IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS M. WOHL and JOHN F. FARLEY,

Intervenors/Appellants,

v.

THE SEBRING UTILITY COMMISSION, a body corporate and politic of the City of Sebring, Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v. 202 STATE OF FLORIDARAND THE TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS OF SAID CITY OF SEBRING, INCLUDING NON-RESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, AND OTHERS HAVING OR CLAIMING ANY RIGHTS, TITLE OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS HEREIN DESCRIBED, OR TO BE AFFECTED IN ANY WAY THEREBY,

Defendants/Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a bond validation judgment by the circuit court, Art. V, §3(b)(2) Fla. Const.; §75.08 Fla. Stat. (1981); Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), Fla.R.App.P.

In accordance with Rule 9.110(i), Fla.R.App.P., portions of the record have been included in an appendix which is being filed herewith. References to the Appendix are by (A. ___).

References to Appellee, the Sebring Utilities Commission, are by Sucom.

Intervenors/Appellants, THOMAS M. WOHL and JOHN F. FARLEY are referenced herein as Intervenors.¹

References to documents received in evidence are:

Intervenors' Exhibits	(Int. Ex)
Sucom's Exhibits	(Suc. Ex)

The exhibits referenced in this brief are also included in the Appendix. Therefore, references will be combined as (A. / Ex.).

Additionally, two transcripts are included in the appendix, the court having taken testimony in this consolidated matter on February 11, 1985 and July 29, 1985. References to the transcript which is included in the appendix are by (T. /A.).

-1-

¹In 1983 these same Intervenors appealed the circuit court's bond validation judgment of a revenue bond issue in the amount of \$120 million which, likewise, had not been approved by the electorate. However, Messrs. Wohl and Farley were not identified in the notice of appeal or the proceedings here, case number 63,839. On motion to dismiss after we filed our brief, the court dismissed the appeal by referencing Sucom's motion to dismiss the appeal. Sucom's ground for the motion was that the Intervenors were not identified. However, it subsequently developed that the appeal was moot in any event because Sucom did not sell the \$120 million bond issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sucom operates electric power generating facilities. It filed its COMPLAINT FOR VALIDATION on May 29, 1985, alleging that it had "determined to issue not exceeding \$130,000,000 Original Principal Amount Utility System Revenue Bonds (Series 1985 A) of the Commission . . . for the purpose of paying or redeeming the Outstanding Bonds. (¶9; A. 1-8). The "Outstanding Bonds" were described in the allegations as \$92,750,000 and \$1,800,000 revenue bonds sold during 1981 and 1984, and \$2,350,000 notes issued on March 28, 1985. (¶4; A.2). Its RESOLUTION described the forthcoming bond sale as being for the purpose of paying the Outstanding Bonds. (¶11; A.3).

By paragraph 12 of its COMPLAINT, Sucom asserted that ¶209 of the RESOLUTION "authorizes . . . the issuance of the Bonds for the purpose of providing funds, together with other available funds, for paying at their respective maturities or redeeming at a selected redemption date or dates, or purchasing through a program for tenders, together with interest thereon until their payment or redemption and any redemption premium or purchase, all of the Outstanding Bonds." (A.4).

Sucom alleged that its RESOLUTION provides in §209 that the proceeds of the Bonds simultaneously with the delivery thereof shall be applied by the Trustee in the manner specified, which application shall not be inconsistent with the accomplishment of the purposes set forth in paragraph 12 of the COMPLAINT (¶13;A.4).

Significantly, the COMPLAINT does not include any allegation whatsoever that the proposed Series 1985A bond issue is for the purpose of <u>immediately</u> repurchasing the Outstanding Bonds, or repurchasing same within a short time.

-2-

Intervenors filed their motion to dismiss with their answer and (A.150-158). Among other things they assert that, affirmative defenses. contrary to Sucom's allegations, neither the Florida Constitution nor the Laws of Florida authorize any commission to borrow money to finance electric and water utilities. And, Intervenors pointed out the CHARTER which governs Sucom requires voter approval of unlimited borrowing and the sale of revenue bonds in order to secure such borrowing. Additionally, Intervenors stated that §3 of the CHARTER, enacted in 1963, constitutes an unlawful delegation of legislative power. Finally, they argued that §12.04 of the CHARTER, authorizing "refunding bonds", does not allow the sale of bonds which will have the effect of increasing Sucom's indebtedness. Intervenors pointed out that the proposed "refunding revenue bond issue" of \$130,000,000 exceeds the amount of the "Outstanding Bonds" (\$92,750 plus \$1,800,000 plus \$2,350,000).

Moreover, Intervenors assert eight affirmative defenses, discussed herein.

The CONSOLIDATED FINAL JUDGMENT (A. 479-491)) reflects two cases which the circuit court had under consideration as of the date of the judgment, August 21, 1985. Case number 84-284-G was an action wherein Intervenors (Plaintiffs there) sought declaratory and injunctive relief which is the essence of the matter now under appeal. The court took testimony on February 11, 1985 (T. 1-307/A. 168-312). Thereafter, on May 29, 1985, Sucom filed its COMPLAINT FOR VALIDATION in case number 85-169-G, the matter which is the subject of this direct appeal. The parties cooperated in that a show cause order (A. 148-149) was consented to on June 5, 1985 and the two cases were consolidated for trial on July 3, 1985, the date which Intervenors (Plaintiffs in case number 84-284-G) had obtained for completion of their original action. Subsequently, the court, on its own motion, reset

-3-

the trial for July 29, 1985. All issues raised in both cases were considered by the court at that hearing and the court ordered that all exhibits received in 84-284-G also be marked and filed in 85-169-G. (T. 85/A. 400)²

The circuit court entered its CONSOLIDATED FINAL JUDGMENT on August 21, 1985, validating the subject bonds. Procedural requirements are not in issue here because Sucom complied with the requirements of obtaining the necessary show cause order and advertising same prior to the final hearing on July 29, 1985.

Intervenors timely filed their notice of appeal on September 19, 1985. (A. 492).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Sucom CHARTER

Sucom, a part of the government of the City of Sebring, Highlands County, Florida, was created by Laws of Fla. 1945, Ch. 23535; Amended Laws of Fla., 1951, Ch. 27893; Amended Laws of Fla., Ch. 63–1926, Amended Laws of Fla., Ch. 67–2068, Amended Laws of Fla., 1979, Ch. 79–567. (A.9–10, 31, 32, 33). It operates electrical power generating plants and sells electricity to approximately 10,000 ratepayers in Sebring, Florida.

-4-

 $^{^{2}}$ In preparation for dictating this brief, undersigned counsel reviewed case number 85-169-G at the clerk's office and ascertained that the exhibits have not yet been duplicated and filed in this matter. However, in the event that the court enters its order directing that the file be transmitted by the clerk, we shall request that the exhibits be duplicated.

The 1951 amendment to the CHARTER, attached to Sucom's COMPLAINT as Exhibit A (Suc. Ex. 3/A. 9-35) provides for three types of borrowing which it may engage in. First, by virtue of §1.12 of the CHARTER, Sucom may borrow an amount not in excess of 40% of the previous year's net earnings from the utilities operation, said loan to be for a period of not more than two years, the purpose of the borrowing to be for operating expense, alterations and repairs of the utilities under its management and control. The second type of authorized borrowing is for the purpose of replacing machinery and equipment and enlarging or extending the public utilities; this borrowing is limited to the amount of the previous year's net earnings from the utilities, and may not exceed a period of five years. §1.12. (Complaint Ex. A, pp. 47-48; Suc. Ex. 3; A.15-16).

Section 12.01 of the CHARTER provides that Sucom is authorized and empowered "without limitation as to amount, or as to maturities," to borrow money and issue revenue bonds securing the money so borrowed "...subject to the approval of the freeholders owning real estate situate in the City of Sebring, Highlands County, Florida, and who are also qualified to vote in any general election of said City. ..." (Suc. Ex. 3; P. 49 A. 17). Sucom has not obtained voter approval for this third type of borrowing, i.e. unlimited borrowing, utilizing revenue bonds to secure the borrowing, since 1964. (MacBeth testimony; A.377).

Prior to May 14, 1963, Sucom's counsel forwarded to the Secretary of State for prefiling an amendment to the CHARTER. It provides:

Section 3. <u>Construction of act</u>.--This act shall be construed to authorize the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates subject to approval of the freeholders when required under the constitution of the state and shall not

-5-

be construed to be in conflict with the general law of the state authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates payable solely from the municipal utilities revenues.

(Int. Ex. 2; Suc. Ex. 5; A. 159-160).

Because this amendment required voter approval at a City election, Sucom advertised the upcoming election, but did not correctly state the substance of the amendment which became §3 of the CHARTER (Suc. Ex. 3, pp. 63-64; A. 31-32) after the December 10, 1963 referendum election. The advertising included the following language:

> THIS IS TO GIVE NOTICE, That a Special Election will be held on December 10, 1963 to vote on a Special Act of the Florida Legislature amending Section 3 of Chapter 27893 of the Laws of Florida of 1951 relating to the construction of said Act. The amendment provides the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates pursuant to said Act shall not be construed to be in conflict with the general law of the State of Florida authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates payable solely from the municipal utility revenues.

> The amendment, in order to be passed, must be approved by a majority of the electors of the City of Sebring voting in said Special Election.

DATED this 12th day of November, 1963. These notices were published on November 14 and 21, 1963. (Int. Ex. 15, 16; A. 161, 162). Additionally, several officials and Sucom's counsel

-6-

published an advertisement in the Sebring News-Sun, Inc. on December 5, 1963, describing the proposed amendment as:

... This amendment clarifies the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates under the Utilities Charter and provides that this shall not be in conflict with the powers granted the City under the General Law of the State of Florida. This brings Sebring in line with other municipalities in the State and is a good amendment. If there is any question about this, contact a member of the Utilities Commission.

(Int. Ex. 17; A. 163).

Finally, the December 10, 1963 ballot description that was presented to the voters contained the following language or description:

Special Act of the Florida Legislature amending Section 3 of Chapter 27893 of the Laws of Florida of 1951 relating to the construction of said Act. The amendment provides the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates pursuant to said Act shall not be construed to be in conflict with the general law of the State of Florida authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates payable solely from the municipal utility revenues.

(Int. Ex. 3; A. 165).

Although this matter is discussed at greater length, ARGUMENT, below, it is possible to state the fact here that, §3 as pre-filed with the Florida Secretary of State was advertised in the newspaper and on the ballot as something which it was not. Thus, the statute provides that the "act" (CHARTER) shall be construed to authorize the issuance of revenue bonds

-7-

"subject to approval of the freeholders when required under the <u>constitution</u> of the state and shall not be construed to be in conflict with the general law of the state authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates payable solely from the municipal utility revenues." On the other hand, the advertising as well as ballot description suggested to the voters when deciding whether to authorize enactment of §3 advised them that "The amendment provides the issuance of revenue bonds or certificates pursuant to said Act shall not be construed to be in conflict with the <u>general law</u> of the State of Florida <u>authorizing the issuance of revenue bonds</u> or certificates payable solely from the municipal utility revenues." There was no descriptive reference to the Florida Constitution. Moreover, as will be argued herein, the general law of Florida did not authorize the sale of revenue bonds by public utility commissions in any event.

During the July 29, 1985 hearing, Intervenors called as a witness Mr. Joseph O. MacBeth who was counsel to the Commission during 1963. Mr. MacBeth was of the personal view during 1963 that Sucom was in an "untenable position" because it "couldn't grow". They (sic) couldn't issue revenue bonds or certificates unless they (sic) had the vote of the people in each case. The law didn't say that was required and I didn't think it should be required of the Commission." (T.63/ A.378). He testified that, after conferring with a member of the Florida House of Representatives, he prepared the §3 amendment for pre-filing with the Florida Secretary of State. Because the member had stated his desire that the proposed amendment be subject to voter referendum approval, Mr. MacBeth undertook to advertise the amendment and place it on the ballot. At all times, he was acting within the scope of his authority and employment as counsel for Sucom. He was not aware of any specific provisions of Florida general law. Moreover, it was his

-8-

view that the ballot description was adequate and sufficient for the purpose of apprising voters of the amendment. (T. 49-64; A. 364-379).

Relevant Revenue Bond Financings

-

The subject 1985 MASTER BOND RESOLUTION (COMPLAINT Exhibit C; Suc. Ex. 9; A. 50-147) is described by its terms as a refunding bond issue as well as a borrowing for general purposes. The RESOLUTION refers to the 1981 revenue bond issue in the amount of \$92,750,000, the 1984 bond issue (\$1,800,000) and the 1985 subordinated notes (\$2,350,000) (<u>Id</u>. at 56), and states that Sucom has determined to issue its Utilities System Revenue Bonds (Series 1985A), a portion of the proceeds of which will be applied to pay at maturity or to redeem or to purchase the 1981 bonds (Id. at 58).

The RESOLUTION further provides that Sucom will, at all times while any of the bonds shall be outstanding, establish and collect utilities charges which, together with other income, are reasonably expected to yield net revenues equal to at least 1.0 times the Aggregate Debt Service for the forthcoming 12-month period. (<u>Id</u>. at §501, p. 44; A. 99). This means that Sucom will charge the rate payers, including Intervenors, an amount sufficient to guarantee payment of the yearly debt service.

The RESOLUTION refers to "Outstanding Bonds" as the 1981 bonds (\$92,750,000), the October 1, 1984 bonds (\$1,800,000) and the April 1, 1985 Subordinate Revenue Notes (\$2,380,000, described above). (Id. at 71), and "Bonds" as those issued under the subject 1985 RESOLUTION, i.e. the \$130 million bond issue. (Id. at 62). "Issuance of Bonds" means selling 1985 bonds for the purpose of providing funds for paying all or part of the cost of refunding the Outstanding Bonds. (RESOLUTION §201; Id. at 77).

-9-

The subject 1985 bonds (\$130 million) will not presently be utilized to refund the "Outstanding (1981, 1984) Bonds" or satisfy the April 1, 1985 Section 209 of the RESOLUTION provides that the 1985 bonds shall be debt. issued in an aggregate Original Principal Amount not exceeding \$130 million "for the purpose of providing funds, together with other available funds, for (i) paying at their respective maturities or (ii) redeeming at a redemption date or dates or (iii) purchasing, pursuant to a program for the solicitation of tenders, all of the Outstanding Bonds." (RESOLUTION pp. 25-26; Id. at In this regard, Mr. Albert Simmons, bond counsel for Sucom, 80-81). testified during the July 29, 1985 hearing that, under the RESOLUTION, revenues from this 1985 bond issue would be deposited in a special fund and invested in obligations of the United States Government. As the prior obligations mature, or as call dates arrive in several years, earnings built up from investing the subject 1985 bonds would be utilized to redeem them. In the meantime, earnings in the fund, together with other available funds, would be utilized by Sucom to service the debt (approximately \$10,532,000 per year) on the 1981 bonds. He testified that the 1981 bonds (\$92,750,000) would be paid off in 1991 ("in all likelihood"), the 1984 bonds in 1994, and the 1985 notes on April 1, 1986 (T. 26; A. 341).

The subject 1985 MASTER BOND RESOLUTION does not otherwise include language which requires that Sucom utilize the proceeds from the validated 1985 bond issue in order to refund outstanding obligations at this time. Thus, in addition to the outstanding debt of approximately \$96 million, Sucom anticipates having additional debt of \$130 million, at least for a period of years prior to eventual pay off of the "Outstanding Bonds". As a matter of fact, Intervenors are troubled when suggesting that Sucom will pay off the

-10-

"Outstanding Bonds" at all. This is because its RESOLUTION does not explicitly so require.

The Rate Payers Pay the Cost of Sucom's Borrowings

Sucom owes approximately \$92 million under the 1981 bond issue and the total pay out is approximately \$320 million; it is unable to pay the annual debt service of approximately \$10,532,000. (Moothart Testimony; T. 187-190; A. 193-195; Int. Ex. 4/A. 166-167). The pay back on the October 1, 1984 bonds in the amount of \$1,800,000 is \$5,675,000. (Id. at 191-194; A. 197-200). The pay out on the proposed \$130 million issue will be almost \$400 million. (Simmons Testimony; T. 39; A. 354).

Sucom has approximately 10,000 rate payers. (Moothart Testimony; T. 219-220; A. 225-226). Its rates are 20 to 30 percent higher than Florida Power Corporation which serves the adjacent area. (Moothart Testimony; T. 207-208; A. 213-214), (Wohl Testimony; T. 253; A. 258), (Keith Testimony; T. 277, 278; A. 282-283). The rate payers, including Intervenors, pay the obligations undertaken and proposed to be undertaken by Sucom. (Moothart Testimony; T. 194, 201, 226; A. 200, 207, 232).

Sucom is unable to pay its current obligations. In this regard, it is presently experiencing revenues of approximately \$16 million and expenses of operation of \$12 million. It has operating income of \$2,238,000 from which it must pay interest expense of \$10,400,000 (Moothart Testimony; T. 189, 204; A. 195, 210).

The 1981 bond issue (\$92,750,000) was undertaken in order to construct a new power generating facility. With yearly bond debt service exceeding \$10,500,000 (Int.Ex. 4/A. 166-167), Sucom never had the financial means with

-11-

which to pay for its undertaking.³ For the fiscal year ended (FYE) September 30, 1979, earnings totalled \$874,141; for FYE 9/30/80 \$931,311; for FYE 9/30/81 \$1,022,448. (Farley testimony T. 77/A. 392). Sucom now purchases power from other power companies because such is cheaper than what it can produce. (Moothart testimony T.73/A.388).

Costs for investment banker commission and bond insurance approximate \$8,296,000. (Simmons testimony T.34-37/A.349-352). Whether such is an added debt of Sucom appears certain, but bond counsel, Mr. Simmons, testified "yes and no". He explained his equivocation by stating that the escrow generated by the proposed bond sale will earn interest. (Id. A.352). However, Sucom will not derive a "profit" by such investment because the federal arbitrage rules prohibit such. (Id.T. 26/A. 341).

Although Mr. Simmons testified that the validated bond issue is a refunding issue (T.18/A.333), it is clearly much more because the RESOLUTION clearly manifests Sucom's intention to utilize the bond proceeds for, <u>inter alia</u>, construction. (A.39-43). Thus, to that extent, the bond sale is designed for more than mere refunding. And, the CONSOLIDATED FINAL JUDGMENT reflects that more than refunding outstanding bonds is contemplated. (A. 482-483).

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