THOMAS M. WOHL and JOHN F. FARLEY,

Intervenors/Appellants,

v.

Case No. 67,668

THE SEBRING UTILITIES COMMISSION, a body corporate and politic of the City of Sebring, Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA AND THE TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS OF SAID CITY OF SEBRING, INCLUDING NON-RESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, AND OTHERS HAVING OR CLAIMING ANY RIGHTS, TITLE OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS HEREIN DESCRIBED, OR TO BE AFFECTED IN ANY WAY THEREBY,

SID J OCT 30 1935. QLERK, SOPREME COURD

Defendants/Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HIGHLANDS COUNTY

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The argument set forth below in this answer brief may be summarized as $f \phi$ llows:

The Commission is authorized to issue the Bonds under the terms of the Charter and it has taken all required steps for the issuance of the Bonds in compliance with the applicable provisions of law. Pursuant to the provisions of the Commission's Charter, the Bonds may be issued without referendum approval.

The Bonds are authorized as refunding bonds pursuant to Section 12.04 of the Charter. That section provides that refunding bonds may be issued without referendum approval. The fact that the principal amount of bonds issued or the total debt

-8-

service for the Bonds may exceed that presently due under the Outstanding Bonds, depending upon applicable interest rates at sale, does not prohibit characterization of the Bonds as refunding bonds under the Charter. And it is not necessary that the Bonds provide for immediate cancellation or repurchase of the Outstanding Bonds.

Even if the Bonds may not be considered refunding bonds, their issuance without referendum approval is authorized by the provisions of the Commission Charter, as amended in 1963. The effect of the 1963 amendment has been considered and determined in two previous validation proceedings in which the State Attorney represented the citizens, taxpayers, and property owners, and in which at least one of the appellants participated directly. In each proceeding, the Circuit Court specifically held that the Charter was effectively amended in 1963 to delete any requirement of referendum for the issuance of revenue bonds, and no appeal from those validation judgments was perfected.

The 1963 amendment unambiguously provides that referendum approval for issuance of revenue bonds shall be required only when required by the Florida Constitution, and that the Charter shall be interpreted consistently with the statutory authorization for issuance of revenue bonds without referendum by other governing authorities. The Charter as amended clearly reflects its intent to eliminate any referendum requirement in connection with the issuance of revenue bonds, and the application of accepted principles of statutory construction precludes any finding of conflict, ambiguity, or unbridled discretion in the

-9-

Charter. No unconstitutional delegation of legislative authority is present.

Nothing in the evidence presented as shown by the record on appeal supports the position that the trial court erred in its conclusion that the 1963 amendment process did not constitute or contain extrinsic fraud permitting the court to set aside the judgment validating the 1981 Bonds. The amendment was published and voted upon as provided by law, and the unrefuted testimony is that the amendment was the subject of considerable public attention and discussion prior to the election. The 1981 Bonds were validated by judgment of the Circuit Court, and that judgment is conclusive as to the validity of those bonds. Similarly, the only challenge to the 1984 Bonds and 1985 Notes raised by this appeal relates to the necessity of referendum. For the same reasons appliable to the 1981 Bonds, those outstanding obligations were duly and validly issued without referendum.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BONDS ARE REFUNDING BONDS DULY AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 12.04 OF THE CHARTER TO BE ISSUED WITHOUT REFERENDUM.

By its terms, the Master Bond Resolution provides for the refunding of the Outstanding Bonds. Under the Commission's Charter, the issuance of the Bonds is specifically not subject to referendum. Section 12.04 of the Charter provides:

> Section 12.04. Issuance of Refunding Bonds or Certificates. The Sebring Utilities Commission shall be, and is hereby fully authorized and empowered, for the purpose of refunding any revenue bonds or certificates

theretofore issued, to issue refunding revenue bonds or certificates. The issuance of any such refunding bonds or certificates may be authorized by resolution which may be adopted at the same meeting at which it is introduced by a majority of all members of said Commission then in office and shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and need not be published or posted, nor shall the issuance of such refunding revenue bonds or certificates require the approval of freeholders owning real estate within said City of Sebring and who are also qualified to vote in any general election of said City to ratify and approve the same.

Appellants question the refunding nature of the Bonds because the principal amount authorized (\$130,000,000) exceeds the combined principal amount currently outstanding under the Outstanding Bonds.⁴ However, the Bonds are no less "refunding bonds" because their ultimate aggregate principal amount, as determined by market interest conditions upon issuance, exceeds the combined principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds. Contrary to appellants contention, the only authorized purpose of the Bonds is the refunding of Outstanding Bonds by payment of those obligations at their maturity, or at such earlier time as the Commission is permitted under the terms of the Outstanding Bonds.

"As pointed out to the trial court (T. 121/A.A. 436), this issue, while properly before the court, is of little practical import and need not be reached if the Court concludes that no referendum is required under the Charter for issuance of revenue bonds. If a referendum is required, the Master Bond Resolution, even if construed to authorize a refunding issue, cannot effectively provide for refunding of the 1984 Bonds and 1985 Notes, obligations incurred without referendum and not validated by proceedings under Chapter 75, Florida Statutes. Conversely, if no referendum is required by the Charter, the Bonds may be validly issued as revenue bonds under the Charter even if they are not technically "refunding bonds". The issue therefore need not be reached if the Court finds no referendum requirement, and becomes irrelevant if a referendum requirement is found. (T. 20/A.A. 335). Also contrary to appellants' contention (B. 12, 15), the underwriting costs, insurance permiums, and other expenses attendant to the issuance of the Bonds will not be borne by the ratepayers, since the escrow arrangement under the Master Bond Resolution will allow the Commission to recover those expenses, and will not increase the amount to be paid by ratepayers. (T. 37/A.A. 352). In any event, the existence of expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of refunding bonds does not in any way alter the declared and operative purpose of the Bonds, the refunding of existing obligations. Those expenses are merely the initial price of that refunding. Their presence certainly does not prevent the Bonds from being refunding bonds.

Because of financial considerations involving the relationship between principal and interest rate, the authorization for issuance of the Bonds in an aggregate principal amount up to \$130,000,000 does not alter the refunding nature of the Bonds. Since the yield on the refunding bonds generally determines the allowable yield on the government obligations held in the escrow fund acquired with the proceeds of such bonds, the size of the refunding bond issue required to refund the Outstanding Bonds is a function of both the debt service on the Outstanding Bonds and the yield on the refunding bonds, and cannot be precisely determined until the refunding bonds are sold. (T. 19/A.A. 334). In general, if the interest rates on the refunding bonds are lower than the Outstanding Bonds (as will in all likelihood be the case with the Commission's refunding) the size of the refunding bond

-12-

issue will be greater than the outstanding principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds. This is because the government obligations must be invested at a rate lower than the Outstanding Bonds, and thus the shortfall must be made up from principal in the Escrow Fund. (T. 28/A.A. 343). However, despite the increase in principal amount, lower interest rates may enable the Commission to realize a reduction in annual and total debt service requirements if the Outstanding Bonds are discharged prior to their scheduled maturity. Conversely, the principal amount of the refunding bonds will be less than the Outstanding Bonds if interest rates have risen.

Simply stated, the principal amount necessary to refund the Outstanding Bonds will depend upon the interest rate at which the Bonds are issued, which will be determined at that time. While lower interest rates would theoretically increase the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds that must be issued, the lower interest rate might result in a lower total payout of combined principal and interest under the Bonds. (T. 33/A.A. 348).

The cases cited by appellants do not place the Commission in the financial straight-jacket that appellants urge. The dichotomy resulting from the cited decisions is between a bond issue creating "new debt" or a "new liability," and one which "merely renews and continues in a changed form the original existing indebtedness." <u>Sullivan v. City of Tampa</u>, 134 So. 211, 218 (Fla. 1931). The proposed Bonds clearly fall within the latter category.

-13-

Appellants' reliance upon <u>Nolle v. Brevard County</u>, 131 So. 776 (Fla. 1931), and <u>State v. City of Lakeland</u>, 16 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1943), is totally misplaced. In <u>Nolle v. Brevard County</u> this Court refused to affirm the validation as refunding bonds of bonds issued by a county to refund the obligations of a separate taxing district. In <u>State v. City of Lakeland</u>, refunding bond status was denied where the refunding bonds pledged utility revenues in addition to the ad valorem tax revenues pledged as security for the original bonds. The Commission's proposed bond issue is for its own obligations and does not alter or extend the security pledged. In each case a "new liability", previously non-existent, was created.

In considering the constitutional restrictions upon issuance of bonds by municipalities, this Court in <u>Sullivan v. City of</u> <u>Tampa</u>, 134 So. 211 (Fla. 1931), refused to engraft the restrictions upon the issuance of refunding bonds that appellants would urge. The Court stated:

> It will be noticed that the only limitation upon the power of counties, districts, and municipalities to issue refunding bonds . . . is that such bonds be issued exclusively for the purpose of refunding the bonds or the interest thereon of such counties, districts, or municipalities. The constitutional provision contains no express language which purports to fix or limit the rate of interest which the refunding bonds shall bear, or to fix the price at which they may be sold. Being wholly silent as to such matters, and no such limitation being clearly implied from the use of the terms in the amendment itself, none will be implied by the court.

134 So. at 218. The Charter provision authorizing refunding bonds should be similarly construed. No such restructions upon

-14-

the Commission's authority to issue refunding bonds are stated in the Charter; none should be implied.

The Bonds comply with the essential requirement that they be issued "exclusively for the purpose of refunding" the outstanding obligations of the Commission. (C.A. 62-63/Com. Ex. 6; T. 20/A.A. 335). The Bonds would provide the Commission an extension of time or more favorable terms for the payment of the indebtedness represented by the obligations. <u>See Sullivan v.</u> <u>City of Tampa, supra at 218-219</u>. In <u>Sullivan v. City of Tampa, supra, the Court refused to imply that refunding bonds could not be issued except at no higher interest rate than the original obligations or that they could not be sold for less than their full par value. The Court observed:</u>

> It is also a matter of common knowledge that refunding obligations cannot always be accomplished without holding out to the creditors some inducement in the form of an increase in the rate of interest or otherwise, which would cause him to be willing to surrender his existing bonds and take the refunding bonds instead.

134 So. at 17.

Similarly structured refunding transactions have been considered and approved by this Court. And that approval necessarily disposes of appellants' objection that the Outstanding Bonds will not be immediately satisfied. In <u>State v. Board of</u> <u>Public Instruction of Broward County</u>, 164 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1964) this Court noted that it had approved refundings where the amount necessary to satisfy the outstanding obligation is deposited in trust. The Court found:

-15-

The Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Refunding Bonds requires that the proceeds of the sale of the bonds be invested in direct obligations of the United States Government or in time deposits evidenced by certificates of deposit fully secured by direct obligations of the United States Government at a rate or rates equal to the interest payable on the Refunding Bonds.

The Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Refunding Bonds and the testimony of the witnesses demonstrates that the issuance of the Refunding Bonds without an immediate redemption of the Outstanding Bonds does not result in a double indebtedness or an increased burden on the taxpayers of the district.

164 So. 2d at 12. Simultaneous cancellation or satisfaction of outstanding obligations is clearly not required by the Charter or by the decisions of this Court. It is sufficient that the proceeds of the refunding bonds will be available to take the place of principal and interest of the outstanding bonds when they mature. <u>Fleeman v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 191 So. 840 (Fla. 1939). The Bonds are therefore clearly refunding bonds authorized by the Charter.

Appellants also contend that language in the Master Bond Resolution authorizing the issuance of additional bonds for the construction and acquisition of improvements precludes characterization of the Bonds as "refunding bonds" under the Charter. Section 210 of the Master Bond Resolution (C.A. 65/Com. Ex. 6) provides for the issuance of separate additional bonds within the authorized amount on a parity with the Bonds previously issued for refunding for construction or acquisition purposes, but specifically conditions any such action upon the adoption by

-16-

the Commission of a new bond resolution therefor. The public is thereby provided all of the substantive and procedural protections available in connection with a totally new bond issue. Section 209 (C.A. 62/Com. Ex. 6) provides that the Series 1985A Bonds for which validation is herein sought will be issued:

> ... for the purpose of providing funds, together with other available funds, for (i) paying at their respective maturities or (ii) redeeming at a redemption date or dates ... or (iii) purchasing, pursuant to a program for the solicitation of tenders, together with interest thereon until their payment or redemption or purchase and any redemption premium, all of the Outstanding Bonds.

The Bonds to be issued under the Master Bond Resolution and for which validation is sought are only the Commission's Series 1985A Bonds. (A.A. 1, 480). Those bonds are authorized exclusively for the refunding of the Outstanding Bonds. Appellant's contention that the Bonds do not qualify as refunding bonds because the proceeds may be used for construction is therefore patently in error and without merit.

- II. THE BONDS ARE AUTHORIZED UNDER THE CHARTER WITHOUT REFERENDUM.
 - A. The Referendum Issue Has Been Previously Adjudicated And That Adjudication Is Conclusive Under Chapter 75 And Principles Of Res Judicata.

The referendum requirement and the effectiveness of the 1963 Charter amendment have been addressed by the lower court in validation proceedings since 1963 in which revenue bond issues which were not submitted to the electorate were validated. The circuit court validated the 1981 Bonds by judgment dated February 25,

-17-

1981 (Sebring Utilities Commission v. State of Florida, et al., Civil Action No. 81-11-G) (C.A. 278/Com. Ex. 10). That judgment states:

> Chapter 63-1926, Special Acts of Florida 6. of 1963, amended chapter 23535, Section 12, Acts of 1945, as amended by Chapter 27893, Sections 12.01 and 12.02, Acts of 1951, to eliminate the requirement that the issuance of revenue bonds be approved by a vote of the freeholders of the City of Sebring, Highlands County, Florida. The Act, as amended, requires the approval of the freeholders of the City of Sebring, Highlands County, Florida prior to the issuance of bonds only when required by the Constitution of the State of Florida. The Constitution of the State of Florida does not require an election for the issuance of revenue bonds, therefore an election of the freeholders of the City is not required by the Act for the issuance of the Bonds.

(C.A. 286). The 1981 validation judgment further provides that:

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